FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/25/2020 1:03 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/25/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 77811-1-I SUPREME COURT NO. 98204-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner.

٧.

MARIO ROBERTO GUEVARA-DIAZ,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III. ISSUES1
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1
V. ARGUMENT6
A. THE COURT OF APPEALS HAS ABANDONED AN ESTABLISHED RULE THAT A PARTY WHO CHOOSES NOT TO CHALLENGE A JUROR CANNOT RAISE THAT CHALLENGE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL
B. THE COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED AN ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, EVEN THOUGH THE RECORD IS SILENT ON KEY FACTS
C. DIVISION ONE'S ANALYSIS OF JURY BIAS CONFLICTS WITH DIVISION'S TWO'S ANALYSIS OF A SIMILAR ISSUE 14
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>WASHINGTON CASES</u>
State v. Crawford, 21 Wn. App. 146, 584 P.2d 442 (1976) 7, 9
State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 10 P.3d 977 (2000)
State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015), review
<u>denied</u> , 184 Wn.2d 1036 (2016)7, 8, 9
State v. Jahns, 61 Wash. 636, 112 P. 747 (1911)
State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 374 P.3d 278, review denied,
186 Wn.2d 1020 (2016)
State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) 11, 14
State v. Morgensen, 148 Wn. App. 81, 197 P.3d 715 (2008)7, 13,
17
State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991)12
State v. Perry, 24 Wn.2d 764, 167 P.2d 173 (1946)
COURT RULES
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RAP 13.7(b)

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

The State of Washington seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction in an opinion filed January 27, 2020. The opinion will be published, but the citations are not yet available. A copy of the opinion is set out in Appendix B.

III. ISSUES

- (1) When a party is aware of facts suggesting a juror's possible bias but fails to challenge the juror, can that challenge be raised for the first time on appeal?
- (2) When the record is silent on facts affecting a constitutional issue, is there "manifest error" that can be raised for the first time on appeal?
- (3) If the issue can be raised, is a juror's statement that she could not be "fair to both sides" enough to demonstrate actual bias against the defendant?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant (respondent), Mario Guevara Diaz, was charged with one count of second degree rape and one count of

third degree rape. 1 CP 63. At the commencement of voir dire, the court gave the jury a written questionnaire. 7 RP 506-07.¹ It included the following questions:

- 7. Can you be fair to both sides in a case involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual abuse?
- 8. If you answered "yes" to any of the preceding questions, would you prefer to discuss your answers to these questions outside of the presence of the other jurors?

3 CP 90-140. For those jurors who answered "yes" to question 8, the court decided that they would be questioned outside the presence of the other jurors. The remaining jurors would then be questioned jointly. 1 RP 37.

Defense counsel identified six jurors who had not requested separate questioning, but who had answered "no" to question 7. These were Jurors 11, 15, 20, 23, 27, and 30.² 1 RP 42. Counsel asked to have these jurors questioned separately as well. He expressed concern that their answers could taint the jury pool. 1 RP 42-43.

¹ The report of proceedings covering the trial consists of eight consecutively-paginated volumes. The first two days of trial are each split into two volumes. The first day is split between volumes 1 and 7; the second day between volumes 2 and 8. The chronological order is set out in Appendix A.

In rejecting this request, the court also explained why the jurors who answered "no" were not necessarily biased:

I have presided over quite a few jury trials, and I haven't seen where a remark from a potential juror has tainted the other panel. I can tell you, from my experience, typically, what that turns into, some of them don't fully understand what their job is supposed to be and think that the allegation is — is enough.

In other words, they sometimes will say something like, "If you client is guilty, then I – then I can't be fair to him." And that, of course, puts the cart before the horse.

Other ones I think sometimes will – quite honestly, they will say that, because they are, for one reason or another, having a reaction to the subject matter generally – and others possibly have no good reason to say that apart from looking for a reason to get off the jury. And I wouldn't like to say that ordinarily, except I've had enough experience to know that this is another thing that can happen.

1 RP 43-44.

Defense counsel suggested that jurors who had answered "no" to question 7 were "presumptively not going to be fair in this case" and would be subject to challenges for cause. The court responded:

They may well be. I fully anticipate that some of them will wind up getting challenged for cause successfully.

² Counsel also listed Juror 19. That juror had in fact requested separate questioning. After being questioned, he was excused for cause. 1 RP 535-36.

And depending on what they say, others might not, but we'll have to hear from them first.

1 RP 45.

The court proceeded with the separate questioning of those jurors who had made that request in question 8. Seven of them had also answered "no" to question 7. Each of those jurors was questioned about his or her ability to be fair by either defense counsel, the prosecutor, or both. 7 RP 513-14, 521-22, 527-29, 533-35, 545, 551-54, 556-57. Following the questioning, the defendant challenged each of them for cause. 7 RP 515, 522, 529, 535, 546, 551, 557. The court granted all of those challenges. 7 RP 515, 524, 529, 536, 546, 554, 558.

For the remainder of voir dire, the jurors were questioned together. During his portion of the voir dire, the prosecutor questioned the jurors as follows:

Do you all promise that you will give both sides a fair trial in this case?

Do you agree that the defendant, as he sits here, is presumed innocent until proven guilty? Do you promise to give him a fair trial?

Do you agree that the State, represented by the prosecutor, Mr. Okoloko, has the burden of proof in this case?

Do you all also agree that the State is also entitled to a fair trial?

There's a lot of nodding of heads, and I take that – that the universal language of nodding heads, you all mean, yes, right?

JURORS: Yes.

7 RP 601-02.

After voir dire was completed, neither counsel challenged any juror for cause. 8 RP 657. Defense counsel used all seven available peremptory challenges. He challenged two jurors who had answered "no" to question 7 (Jurors 11 and 20) and five jurors who had not. 8 RP 658-63. The prosecutor challenged one juror who had answered "no" to that question (Juror 15). 8 RP 660. Two jurors were seated who had answered "no" and who had not been challenged for cause — Jurors 23 and 27. 2 CP 82-83.

At the conclusion of trial, Juror 27 was designated as the alternate and excused. 2 CP 88. Juror 23 participated in deliberations. The jury found the defendant guilty as charged. 1 CP 40-41. At sentencing, the conviction for third degree rape was vacated for double jeopardy reasons. 1 CP 33-34. Judgment was entered convicting the defendant of second degree rape.1 CP 16-32.

The Court of Appeals held that the defendant was entitled to raise a challenge to the alleged bias of a juror, even though he

knowingly failed to challenge her in the trial court. Slip op. at 8-12. It then held that the juror's answer of "no" to the fairness question was sufficient to demonstrate actual bias. It reached this conclusions notwithstanding the silence of the record on several facts surrounding the voir dire. It therefore reversed the conviction and remanded the case for a new trial. Slip op. at 12-19.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS HAS ABANDONED AN ESTABLISHED RULE THAT A PARTY WHO CHOOSES NOT TO CHALLENGE A JUROR CANNOT RAISE THAT CHALLENGE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

For the first time in Washington's history, a conviction has been reversed based on an allegation of juror bias — even though the party was aware of the potential bias and chose not to raise any challenge in the trial court. In the past, this court has consistently said that such challenges could not be raised for the first time on appeal:

One may not elect voluntarily to submit his case to a jury satisfactory to him, and then, after an adverse verdict, for the first time on appeal claim error which, if it did exist, could have been cured or otherwise redressed by some action on the part of the trial court.

<u>State v. Perry</u>, 24 Wn.2d 764, 769, 167 P.2d 173 (1946); <u>see State v. Jahns</u>, 61 Wash. 636, 112 P. 747 (1911). Division Two of the

Court of Appeals has applied the same rule. State v. Crawford, 21 Wn. App. 146, 151, 584 P.2d 442 (1976). Division Two has also applied this rule to claims of judicial bias: "[A] litigant who proceeds to trial knowing of potential bias by the trial court waives his objection and cannot challenge the court's qualifications on appeal." State v. Morgensen, 148 Wn. App. 81, 91 ¶ 20, 197 P.3d 715 (2008).

The abandonment of this rule began with Division One's decision in State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1036 (2016). That case involved an extremely unusual situation. The defendant exercised his right to proceed pro se. He then voluntarily absented himself from the trial. The jury was selected without any participation from anyone acting on his behalf. Id. at 189 ¶¶ 5-6. During voir dire, a juror said that he was "more inclined towards the prosecution" and "would like to say he's guilty." Id. at 190 ¶ 9. Division One held that the trial judge had an independent obligation to protect the defendant's right to an impartial jury. Id. at 192-93 ¶ 15.

Irby was applied by Division Two in State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 374 P.3d 278, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1020 (2016). There, a prospective juror identified three relatives who had been

the victims of sexual assault or physical violence. He said that he "didn't see how I could be objective with all that past experience." When asked if he could set his experiences aside and follow the court's instructions, he answered, "I don't think I would be able to do that with all these experiences." Defense counsel did not follow up on these questions and did not challenge the juror. <u>Id.</u> at 279-80 ¶¶ 10-11.

Division Two recognized that <u>Irby</u> involved a "somewhat unique" situation. <u>Id.</u> at 286 ¶ 33. It nonetheless concluded that it was "manifest error" to seat a juror who "demonstrates actual bias." <u>Id.</u> at 283 ¶ 20. In determining whether bias was shown, the court considered multiple factors, including the trial court's ability to observe the juror's demeanor and the need for trial courts to be careful not to interfere with a defendant's strategic decisions. <u>Id.</u> at 287-89 ¶¶ 35-40. Based on these factors, Division Two decided that the trial court had not abused its discretion in failing to excuse the juror sua sponte. <u>Id.</u> at 289 ¶ 41.

In the present case, the juror's statement was much less indicative of bias than those in <u>Irby</u> and <u>Lawler</u>. The Court of Appeals nonetheless relied on those cases. Slip op. at 11-12. Moreover, the court disregarded both the trial court's ability to

assess the juror's demeanor and defense counsel's tactical decisions. The Court of Appeals did this because "[t]he record does not show that [the trial court] received any information showing it that juror 23 could be fair to both sides." Slip op. at 19. Of course, this will usually be true when the issue was not raised in the trial court.

This sequence of cases shows how a rule of law is transformed into its opposite. The courts began with a rule that a party cannot object to a juror's qualifications on appeal, if the party was aware of the basis for challenge and chose not to raise it. Perry, 24 Wn.2d at 769; Jahns, 61 Wash. at 638; Crawford, 21 Wn. App. at 151. In Irby, the Court of Appeals applied a different rule under highly unusual circumstances, where no one participated in voir dire on behalf of the defendant. In Lawler, the court applied this rule to a more usual situation, but with a high degree of deference to the actions of the trial court and defense counsel. Finally, in the present case, the court applied the rule without any deference. Starting with a rule that the challenge cannot be raised on appeal, the Court of Appeals has ended up with a rule that it can be raised — and with a standard of review that is highly favorable to the challenger.

This new rule creates a strong incentive for defendants *not* to question or challenge potentially-biased jurors. Withholding the challenge can set up a "no-lose" trial — one in which an acquittal will be final, but a conviction will be overturned on appeal. The defendant can also make an appellate challenge easier, by removing any reason for the court to explain why it considers the juror unbiased. Even if the prosecutor is alert enough to question the juror himself, he will be forced to use some of his limited voir dire time in doing so, while the defendant uses his time on other topics.

Throughout this transformation, this court has not spoken. This court denied the State's petition for review in <u>Irby</u> and the defendant's petition in <u>Lawler</u>. Trial courts need to know what their duties are when a prospective juror gives answers that suggest possible bias. Should they intervene and question the juror themselves? Or should they respect defense counsel's tactical decision *not* to question or challenge the juror? This dilemma presents an issue of substantial public interest. Moreover, the decision of Division One conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Jahns</u> and Division Two's decision in <u>Lawler</u>. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

B. THE COURT OF APPEAL IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED AN ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, EVEN THOUGH THE RECORD IS SILENT ON KEY FACTS.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the issue because it believed that it involved "manifest constitutional error." Slip op. at 8. In doing so, the court ignored an essential component of the "manifest error" test: "If the facts necessary to adjudicate the claimed error are not in the record on appeal, no actual prejudice is shown and the error is not manifest." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

Here, the alleged constitutional error consisted of seating a biased juror. Slip op. at 8. This error would be "manifest" only if the record affirmatively showed that the juror was biased. As the trial court explained, however, answering "no" to the "fairness" question does not necessarily indicate juror bias. Rather, the court mentioned several reasons why a juror might answer "no" yet still be unbiased. 1 RP 43-45.

The Court of Appeals did not hold to the contrary. Rather, the court repeatedly relied on the absence of information to demonstrate that the juror was *not* biased:

While the record states that the jurors answered "yes," it does not state how many answered or whether the jurors nodded "yes" to all of the questions

or just the final question. And the record does not indicate whether juror 23 responded at all.

...

Again, the record does not establish how many responded or whether juror 23 responded.

Slip op. at 16.

This information does not show the direction of juror's 23 bias.

Slip op. at 18.

The record does not show that [the trial court] received any information showing it that juror 23 could be fair to both sides.

Slip op. at 19.

When an issue is not raised at trial, a silent record is the usual state of affairs. This is particularly problematic with regard to allegations of juror bias. The court's determination concerning bias can be heavily influenced by its observations of the juror's demeanor. State v. Noltie, 116 Wn.2d 831, 839, 809 P.2d 190 (1991). Demeanor is rarely reflected in the record.

For example, the jurors here were specifically asked by the prosecutor whether they could give both sides a fair trial. Some or all of them nodded "yes." 7 RP 601-02. Neither the Court of Appeals nor this court knows for sure whether Juror 23 was one of those who nodded. But the trial court and both trial counsel did

know. Moreover, they were able to observe Juror 23's demeanor when she responded to that question. Their subsequent actions indicate their belief that she was *not* biased. In particular, defense counsel decided not to use a peremptory challenge against her. Instead, he used five challenges against jurors who said that they *could* be fair. 8 RP 658-63.

In the face of a record that is silent on key facts, the Court of Appeals should have refused to consider the issue. Instead, it construed the silent record against the State. In reviewing denial of a challenge for cause, an appellate court will ordinarily defer to the trial court's assessment of the juror's demeanor. Noltie, 16 Wn.2d at 839-40. Denial of a challenge for cause is reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. Id. at 838. But on a silent record, the Court of Appeals assumed that there was nothing in the juror's demeanor to indicate lack of bias. Slip op. at 19. The court thus reviewed a challenge raised for the first time on appeal under a more favorable standard of review than if the challenge had been raised at trial.

Application of the "manifest error" test is a recurring problem.

The Court of Appeals' treatment of this issue raises an issue of substantial public interest. The court's decision also conflicts with

McFarland. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3).

C. DIVISION ONE'S ANALYSIS OF JURY BIAS CONFLICTS WITH DIVISION'S TWO'S ANALYSIS OF A SIMILAR ISSUE.

Even if the issue can be raised, the Court of Appeals' resolution of that issue was improper. Division One's analysis is in fundamental conflict with Division Two's analysis in Lawler. The court there considered six factors: (1) the trial court's ability to observe the juror's demeanor, (2) the equivocal nature of the juror's answers, (3) the trial court's alertness to the possibility of biased jurors, (4) defense counsel's alertness to the same problem, (5) counsel's failure to use an available peremptory challenge, and (6) the need for trial court's to be careful not to interfere with a defendant's strategic decisions regarding jury selection. Based on these factors, Division Two concluded that the trial court had not abused its discretion in failing to excuse the juror sua sponte.

Lawler, 194 Wn. App. at 287-89 ¶¶ 35-41.

In the present case, five out of these six factors were likewise present.

(1) The court was able to observe the juror and assess her demeanor.

- (2) The juror's answer was "at least slightly equivocal." Lawler, 194 Wn. App. at 284 ¶ 36. As the trial court pointed out, jurors have different ideas about what it means to be "fair." 1 RP 43-44. A juror's concept of "fairness" will not always be the same as the legal standard of bias.
- (3) The trial court was alert to the possibility of bias. It noted that jurors who answered "no" to the "fairness" question might be biased, "but we'll have to hear from them first." 1 RP 45.
- (4) Defense counsel was concerned about that possibility as well. He successfully challenged seven jurors for cause. 7 RP 515, 522, 529, 535, 546, 551, 557.
- (5) Unlike in <u>Lawler</u>, the defendant here used all of his peremptory challenges. This one factor is not applicable to the present case.
- (6) Defense counsel made a tactical decision not to question jurors about potential biases in the presence of other jurors. He was concerned that the answers to such questions would carry "a real risk of tainting the jury pool." 1 RP 42. Although the court did not share that concern, it was entitled to respect counsel's decision.

The Court of Appeals decision in the present case ignores many of these factors. The court did not consider the juror's

demeanor or the court's or counsel's alertness to the possibility of bias (factors (1), (3), and (4)). The Court of Appeals reasoned that the record did not show that the trial court received any information showing that the juror could be fair. Slip op. at 19. But the same was true in <u>Lawler</u>.

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