# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/18/2020 3:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98204-0

| IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON                                   |
|---|
|   |
| STATE OF WASHINGTON,  |
| Petitioner,   |
| v.  |
| MARIO ROBERTO GUEVARA DIAZ,   |
| Respondent.   |
|   |
| ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY |
| The Honorable George F. Appel, Judge  |
|   |
| ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW   |
| KEVIN A MARCI   |

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Respondent

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

## **

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

In any event, the state misleadingly omits that the prosecutor did not merely ask "whether they could give both sides a fair trial. Some or all of them nodded 'yes." Pet. for Review at 12 (citing RP 601-02). The prosecutor also asked, "Do you agree that the State . . . has the burden of proof in this case?" and "Do you all also agree that the State is also entitled to a fair trial?" RP 601. Only after these additional questions did the prosecutor say, "There's a lot of nodding of heads, and I take that . . . the universal language of nodding heads, you all mean, yes, right?" to which unspecified jurors responded, "Yes." RP 601-02. Setting aside the ridiculous proposition that the state—the sovereign—is entitled to a fair trial, even if Juror 23 was one of the jurors who answered affirmatively, an affirmative answer to the prosecutor's compound questions provides no clarification or mitigation of the actual bias Juror 23 had already expressed. Juror 23 expressed actual bias and the prosecutor's general questions to the venire cannot and did not rehabilitate her.

Finally, the state complains generally that the "[a]pplication of the 'manifest error' test is a recurring problem." Pet. for Review at 13. Yet the state does not attempt to give its preferred application of RAP 2.5(a)(3) "manifest error affecting a constitutional right" standard anywhere in its petition or in its briefing below. Guevara Diaz points the court and the state to <u>State v. Kalebaugh</u>, 183 Wn.2d 578, 355 P.3d 253 (2015), in which the showing required for manifestness was explained quite clearly. To

demonstrate manifestness, the appellant must show actual prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 584. "'To demonstrate actual prejudice, there must be a 'plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." <u>Id.</u> (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting <u>State v. O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (quoting <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007))). To determine whether an error is practical and identifiable, "the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." Id. (quoting O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 100).

Under this standard, the constitutional error in Guevara Diaz's trial was manifest. The parties discussed problematic questionnaire responses on the record when defense counsel asked to question certain jurors individually. RP 41-43. The trial court said no to this request, but nevertheless expressed the need for follow-up with the jurors, albeit in the ordinary course of general venire questioning. RP 44-45 ("we'll have to hear from them first"). The potential seating of a juror who had expressed actual bias therefore had practical and identifiable consequences. The court knew of the juror bias issue because counsel brought it up. Had the court ensured that it "hear[d] from [the jurors] first," it could also have ensured that Juror 23, who made an unqualified statement of bias, did not sit on Guevara Diaz's jury. Knowing

what the trial court knew, the error was manifest under the analysis set forth in <u>Kalebaugh</u> because the trial court knew enough to have corrected the error. The state offers no competing analysis under this, the correct standard for raising error for the first time on appeal, and its general complaints about the RAP 2.5(a)(3) standard itself do not merit review. The state's petition should be denied.

b. None of the pre-RAP 2.5 cases cited by the state addressed the constitutional right to an impartial jury or involved jurors who stated they could not be impartial, so there has been no "abandon[ment] of an established rule" as the state claims

Not only insistent that the manifest constitutional error standard is wrong or should not apply, the prosecution also attempts to pretend the standard does not exist, relying on pre-rule cases, <u>State v. Perry</u>, 24 Wn.2d 764, 167 P.2d 173 (1946); <u>State v. Jahns</u>, 61 Wash. 636, 112 P. 747 (1911); <u>State v. Crawford</u>, 21 Wn. App. 146, 151, 584 P.2d 442 (1976). Pet. for Review at 6-7, 9. Not only did these cases not apply RAP 2.5(a)(3), none involved an issue of actual bias expressed by a juror. The cases and the state's arguments about them should be disregarded because they do not support review under any RAP 13.4(b) criterion.

In <u>Perry</u>, there was no challenge for cause because no juror had expressed bias. Rather, the issue was that the trial court told the jury that Perry had acted peculiarly but had had two doctors examine his mental health, and

that he was "mentally all right." 24 Wn.2d at 767-68. Counsel took no exception to these remarks and voir dire proceeded as usual. <u>Id.</u> at 768. This is not a case involving the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 right to an impartial jury based on a juror's expression of bias. The state's discussion of it should be ignored.

In <u>Jahns</u>, there was no expression of juror bias. The juror said he had no opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the defendant based on what he had heard or read, and merely answered yes to whether "he believed a woman was murdered in Stevens county on October 28th." 61 Wash. at 638. The juror said he could consider the evidence, had no fixed opinion or belief, and could render an impartial verdict. <u>Id.</u> There was no direct expression of bias toward the defendant or toward the outcome of the case, and therefore it was not unreasonable for the defense to decline to renew its for-cause challenge based on bias after the prosecution withdrew its objection to the challenge. <u>Id. Jahns</u> did not involve a claim of actual juror bias and therefore it does not conflict with cases applying the RAP 2.5(a)(3) standard.

<u>Crawford</u> is somewhere in between <u>Jahns</u> and <u>Perry</u>. The larger issue in <u>Crawford</u> was the trial court's statement on the record in front of the venire that officers were subduing Crawford, whom the court pointed out was shackled because he tried to escape earlier. 21 Wn. App. at 150. Despite this remark, as in <u>Perry</u>, defense counsel engaged in voir and passed each member

of the final panel for cause. <u>Crawford</u>, 121 Wn. App. at 150. The defense did claim on appeal that an individual juror was prejudiced against him due to reading a newspaper article about the defendant's escape. <u>Id.</u> at 151. But the article was not in the record; nor is there any indication in the record that the juror who read the article expressed an inability to be impartial. <u>Id.</u> Thus, as in <u>Jahns</u> and <u>Perry</u>, the <u>Crawford</u> case did not involve a situation where a juror unequivocally expressed an inability to be fair. The pre-rule cases relied on by the state do not support review.

Indeed, of the cases that actually do address actual juror bias under the correct RAP 2.5 standard, all are consistent that the error may be raised for the first time on appeal. See State v. Phillips, 6 Wn. App. 2d 651, 661-62, 431 P.3d 1056 (2018) (addressing merits of juror bias claim on appeal despite no objection to seating the juror at trial), review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1007, 438 P.3d 116 (2019); State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 283, 374 P.3d 278 (2016) ("If the jury demonstrates actual bias, empaneling the biased juror is manifest error."); Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 193 ("if the record demonstrates the actual bias of a juror, seating the biased juror was by definition a manifest error. Irby's failure to challenge the two jurors for cause at trial does not preclude him from raising the issue of actual bias on appeal"). There is no conflict or inconsistency in Washington case law that correctly applies the "manifest

error affecting a constitutional right" standard in the context of juror bias, prerule cases notwithstanding. The state's petition for review should be denied.

c. The prosecution wrongly seeks to undermine the constitutional rights to an impartial jury by deferring to the trial court or defense counsel rather than effecting a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver from the accused

The state's waiver theory suggests that inaction on the part of the trial court or defense counsel when confronted with actual juror bias means that either or both believed the juror could be fair based on something other than the juror's statements that she could not be. Pet. for Review at 6, 10. The state is wrong for two reasons. First, it ignores the trial court's independent obligation to honor the accused's constitutional right to an impartial jury. Second, when a juror expresses actual bias and no one follows up, the only person who can waive the accused's constitutional right to an impartial jury is the accused him- or herself, and such waiver must be knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.

"Criminal defendants have a federal and state constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury." State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 192-93 (citing Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 526, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975); State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136 157, 892 P.2d 29 (1995)); U.S. CONST. amend. VI; CONST. art. I, §§ 21, 22. [S]eating a biased juror violates this right." Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 193 (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Yates, 177 Wn.2d 1, 30, 296

P.3d 872 (2013)). The trial judge has an independent obligation to protect the right to an impartial jury, regardless of inaction by defense counsel. <u>State v. Davis</u>, 175 Wn.2d 287, 316, 290 P.3d 43 (2012); <u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 913; <u>accord Hughes</u>, 258 F.3d at 464.

The trial court had its own obligation to follow up with Juror 23 because she expressed actual bias. Allowing a juror to serve who has expressed bias in a criminal case constitutes a "complete lapse by the trial court . . . in carrying out its obligation on *voir dire*." Hughes, 258 F.3d at 464; accord Irby, 187 Wn. App. at 193. The prosecution fails to acknowledge or address Washington Supreme Court precedent applying RCW 4.44.170 and CrR 6.4 that is in accord with <u>Hughes</u> and <u>Irby</u>. As this court has stated, "a trial judge may excuse a potential juror where grounds for a challenge exist, notwithstanding the fact that neither party to the case exercised such a challenge. In fact, the judge is obligated to do so." Davis, 175 Wn.2d at 316 (emphasis added). Given Juror 23's statement of actual bias, the trial court had an independent obligation to ensure she was not seated or that she was questioned further to ensure she could be impartial. The trial court failed to do so, constituting the "complete lapse" that correctly required reversal in <u>Irby</u> and Hughes.

In addition, the accept the state's premise that defense counsel meant to seat Juror 23 despite her statement of actual bias is to allow counsel to waive

the constitutional rights to an impartial jury without express consent. The <a href="Hughes"><u>Hughes</u></a> court correctly rejected this notion categorically:

If counsel's decision not to challenge a biased vernireperson could constitute sound trial strategy, then sound trial strategy would include counsel's decision to waive, in effect, a criminal defendant's right to an impartial jury. However, if counsel cannot waive a criminal defendant's basic Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury 'without the fully informed and publicly acknowledged consent of the client,' Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 417 n.24, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988), then counsel cannot so waive a criminal defendant's basic Sixth Amendment right to trial by an impartial jury.

<u>Hughes</u>, 258 F.3d at 463. Certain waivers cannot be made by defense counsel without express consent by the accused, and the waiver of the right to an impartial jury is one of them.

The state's waiver theory improperly undermines the constitutional rights to an impartial jury under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22. There is no conflict in the case law applying the manifest constitutional error standard to claims of actual bias on the part of a juror. The court of appeals applied the correct manifest constitutional error analysis in this case, and the record shows that the issue of Juror 23's bias was indeed manifest and could have easily been corrected by the trial court, had the trial court performed its duties. No RAP 13.4(b) criterion supports review and the state's petition should accordingly be denied.

#### 2. THERE IS NO CONFLICT WITH <u>LAWLER</u>

The state claims that the decision under review "is in fundamental conflict with Division Two's analysis in <u>Lawler</u>." Pet. for Review at 14. The state recites six factors the <u>Lawler</u> court considered and addresses them. Pet. for Review at 14-18.

There is no conflict. The <u>Lawler</u> court's factors where not considered until after it made the determination that the juror's (coincidentally, Juror 23's) statements was not unqualified statements of bias. <u>Lawler</u>'s Juror 23 said, "I don't see how" when asked whether the could be objective; he did not say he definitely could not be objective. <u>Lawler</u>, 194 Wn. App. at 283. The juror characterized having to set aside his personal experience and judge the case on the merits as a "pain in the neck" and doubted he "would be able to do that with all these experiences." <u>Id.</u> As the <u>Lawler</u> court correctly determined, these were not statements of actual bias but equivocal statements that merely suggested he would have difficulty with impartiality. <u>Id.</u> (juror did not state "he definitely could not" judge the case on the merits).

Here, by contrast, Juror 23 stated unequivocally she could not be fair in the questionnaire. As discussed, this expressed actual bias, not just difficulty in being fair. There was no equivocation. And, unlike the juror in Lawyer, Juror 23 provided no elucidation to her statement. The record shows nothing indicating that Juror 23 could be fair after she stated she could not be.

The <u>Lawler</u> court readily acknowledged that actual statements of bias would "require[] a new trial without a showing of prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 282-83 (citing <u>Irby</u>, 187 Wn. App. at 193). "If the juror demonstrates actual bias, empaneling the biased juror is manifest error." <u>Id.</u> Because the <u>Lawler</u> court would have reversed Guevara Diaz's conviction because of Juror 23's statement of unequivocal bias, there is no conflict between this case and <u>Lawler</u>. Review should be denied.

In addition, the <u>Lawler</u> court found it significant that defense counsel did not exercise any remaining peremptory challenge to excuse the juror in question, 194 Wn. App. at 288, 290, whereas here, the defense exercised all peremptory challenges. Defense counsel might have been alert to removing other jurors

And the state again reads <u>Lawler</u> to emphasize the importance of demeanor and not treading on defense counsel's strategic decision. But Guevara Diaz can find no case that stands for the proposition that potential but unrecorded observations of a juror's demeanor can trump on-the-record statements of actual bias, and the prosecution cites none. Demeanor is no doubt an important consideration, but demeanor is considered alongside and in conjunction with the juror's actual statements, not in a vacuum. <u>See Noltie</u>, 116 Wn.2d 839-40. And, again, where the juror expresses actual bias, the trial court cannot defer to counsel but has an independent obligation to excuse the

juror or ensure she can perform her function impartially, which <u>Lawler</u> itself

recognizes.

There are no conflicts in the standards applied in this case and in

Lawler. The cases are consistent in requiring reversal when a juror expresses

actual bias and the juror's statements are never mitigated, explained, or

elucidated in any way. The state fails to satisfy any RAP 13.4(b) criterion and

its petition for review should be denied.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Because the state meets none of the RAP 13.4(b) review criteria,

review should be denied.

DATED this 18th day of June, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC

KEVIN A. MARCH

WSBA No. 45397

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Respondent

-17-

#### NIELSEN KOCH P.L.L.C.

June 18, 2020 - 3:27 PM

#### **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

**Appellate Court Case Number:** 98204-0

**Appellate Court Case Title:** State of Washington v. Mario Roberto Guevara Diaz

**Superior Court Case Number:** 17-1-01236-4

#### The following documents have been uploaded:

• 982040\_Answer\_Reply\_20200618152547SC867472\_0438.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was Answer to Petition for Review 98204-0.pdf

#### A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

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